## **CABINET**

**MINUTES** of the Meeting held in the Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT on Wednesday, 2 March 2016 from 7.00 - 8.13 pm.

**PRESENT**: Councillors Bowles (Chairman), Mike Cosgrove, Duncan Dewar-Whalley, Gerry Lewin (Vice-Chairman), Ken Pugh, David Simmons, Mike Whiting, Ted Wilcox and John Wright.

**OFFICERS PRESENT:** Anne Adams, Annabel Beecham, Kathryn Carr, David Clifford, Philippa Davies, Deborah Hardy, Janet Hill, Abdool Kara, Charlotte Knowles, Donna Price, Mark Radford, Dave Thomas and Nick Vickers.

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors Roger Clark and Mike Henderson.

## 544 EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Chairman drew attention to the evacuation procedure.

## 545 MINUTES

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 February 2016 (Minute Nos. 468 – 480) were taken as read, approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct record, subject to Minute No. 480 on page 512 to refer to Minute No. 376 in the last paragraph with reference to Parking in Swale, not Minute No. 379.

## 546 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No interests were declared.

#### PART B MINUTES FOR INFORMATION

## 547 TENDER AWARD APPROVAL FOR NEWINGTON WALL REPLACEMENT

#### Cabinet Member for Environmental and Rural Affairs

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Commissioning and Customer Contact and the above Cabinet Member which set out details of the procurement of services to complete the works to replace the collapsed wall in Newington Car Park.

A Member stated that Newington Parish Council had requested that the work be carried out during the quiet period in August, so that potential disruption to the operation of the village hall was kept to a minimum, and that alternative parking arrangements be made available if the work was outside the August period. The Member also asked how long the works were likely to continue for?

The Cabinet Member for Environmental and Rural Affairs advised that the schedule of works was likely to be between eight and ten weeks. The start date was presently unknown. He confirmed that only part of the Car Park would be affected by the works, and that 24 or 25 spaces would remain in operation during the period of the wall replacement. He explained that there was bound to be some disruption,

but Newington Parish Council and the Village Hall Committee would be kept up-todate with progress.

The Ward Members thanked the Cabinet Member and officers who had worked on the project.

#### Resolved:

(1) That the tender for the works to replace the collapsed wall in Newington Car Park, be awarded to Colwin Construction for the sum of £89,588.

# 548 GRANT OF 25-YEAR LEASE FOR HUT AT MINSTER LEAS

## **Cabinet Member for Finance**

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Property Services and the above Cabinet Member which set out a proposal to offer Paul Weeks of Vintage Vending a 25 year full repairing lease to occupy the property at The Leas, Minster-on-Sea.

Several Members spoke in support of the proposal and welcomed the new use for the hut.

A Member queried the last sentence in paragraph 3.1 of the report, and whether it should be amended so the occupier should, rather than be "expected" to cover all outgoings, he "will" cover all outgoings.

The Cabinet Member for Finance advised that the occupier would cover the outgoings, including building insurance, utility costs etc.

The Chairman brought Members' attention to Appendix II, the confidential paper for this item. Members did not discuss the information on the paper, so it was not necessary to go into closed session.

## Resolved:

- (1) That the grant of a 25 year lease to Vintage Vending be granted.
- (2) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Property Services to finalise the terms of the lease in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance.

# 549 OUTGOING POST DISTRIBUTION - AWARD OF CONTRACT

# **Cabinet Member for Finance**

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Property Services and the above Cabinet Member which set out details of the current and proposed arrangements for outgoing post distribution from Swale House.

The Cabinet Member for Finance explained that the proposal allowed savings to be made, whilst retaining a good service.

#### Resolved:

(1) That the Council enters into a contract with OnePost Ltd for the outgoing distribution of post from Swale House for a period of four years from 1 April 2016 at an estimated total contract value of £760,000.

(2) That the Head of Legal Partnership, in consultation with the Head of Property Services be authorised to undertake all steps in relation to negotiating and entering into the contract and to sign the contract.

# 550 ADOPTION OF THE KENT ENVIRONMENT STRATEGY

#### Cabinet Member for Environmental and Rural Affairs

Cabinet considered the report of the Policy and Performance Manager and the above Cabinet Member which sought adoption of the Kent Environment Strategy (KES) by the Council.

The Cabinet Member for Environmental and Rural Affairs considered Swale Borough Council (SBC) was one of the leading authorities on this subject, and could be proud of its credentials on environmental matters. He acknowledged the Leader's work on this, and thanked the Climate Change Officer for her involvement in bringing this forward.

The Climate Change Officer reported that she had recently attended the Implementation Action Plan Workshop, and explained that KES was a partnership document, which helped to retain SBC's position in Kent.

Members welcomed the Strategy. They considered that work on this matter would grow exponentially in the future, and that SBC was leading in this field.

#### Resolved:

(1) That the refreshed Kent Environment Strategy be adopted by the Council.

#### PART A MINUTES FOR CONFIRMATION BY COUNCIL

# 551 STRATEGIC BUSINESS PLANNING 2016/17: CORPORATE PLAN ACTION PLAN AND CORPORATE PERFORMANCE TARGETS

## Leader

Cabinet considered the report of the Policy and Performance Manager and the Leader which set out the purpose of the high-level action plan which supports the delivery of the four-year Corporate Plan, and asks Members to adopt the 2016/17 version of the Plan.

The Leader gave credit to the Chief Executive and the Policy and Performance Manager on the work they had carried out on the Corporate Plan. He advised that

reference to particular Cabinet Members in Appendix I in the report would need to be amended, following changes to Cabinet portfolios.

A Member, who was not a Cabinet Member, made the following comments: how many households were living in temporary accommodation, both in, and out of, Swale?; how many long term empty homes were there in Swale?; consider the target for parking penalty charge notice recovery rate in the future should be higher than 65%; clarification sought on the graffiti item; and planning refusals/delegations targets should not be a Council objective.

The Leader advised that the planning items, were not targets, but a method of recording the information.

The Chief Executive advised that the information requested on accommodation statistics could be forwarded to the Member. He explained that the target of 65% for parking penalties included appeals, and benchmarking data suggested that 65% was a suitable target. Areas with graffiti issues were given a spot-clean and rated on a 1-5 score. He further advised that planning was subject to a national performance regime, with potentially significant penalties applying to underperforming authorities.

The Cabinet Member for Planning explained that the process of development management ensured that applications were managed at an early stage.

Members welcomed the document, and the Chairman thanked the input from the Policy Development and Review Committee.

#### Recommended:

- (1) That the Corporate Plan action plan for 2016/17 (§3.2 and Appendix I) be adopted.
- (2) That the corporate performance indicator set for 2016/17 and associated 'hard' targets for 2016/17 and 'soft' targets for the following two years (§3.8 and Appendix II) be adopted.
- (3) That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Performance, to amend performance indicators and targets during the course of the year should this become necessary (§3.9).

## PART B MINUTES FOR INFORMATION

# 552 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT - APRIL - DECEMBER 2015

# Cabinet Member for Finance

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Finance and the above Cabinet Member which set out the revenue and capital projected outturn for 2015/16 as at the end of December 2015. The report is based on service activity up to the end of December 2015, and is collated from monitoring reports from budget managers.

The Cabinet Member for Finance advised that further savings were being made by improved contract management, and this resulted in a soundly managed and efficient Council. He reported that as a result Council Tax had been kept at the same level for six years. He explained that the items listed at Appendix I on page 98 of the report were "one-off" expenditure items.

Members congratulated the Cabinet Member, Head of Finance, and the Finance Team for the work they had carried out.

#### Resolved:

- (1) That the projected revenue underspend on services of £943,300 for 2015/16 be noted.
- (2) That the projected capital underspend for 2015/16 of £650,000 to end of December 2015 be noted.
- 553 DOLPHIN BARGE MUSEUM OPTION AGREEMENT FOR LAND TRANSFER TO SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL FROM ESSENTIAL LAND AND A PROPOSED NEW LEASE TO THE DOLPHIN BARGE MUSEUM

# Cabinet Member for Localism, Sport, Culture and Heritage

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Property Services and the above Cabinet Member which set out an option agreement for the Council to obtain Land to site B at the Wharf site in Sittingbourne from Essential Land at no cost to the Council.

Members welcomed the proposal and the boost it would give to tourism and education locally.

#### Resolved:

- (1) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Property Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and the Cabinet Member for Localism, Sport, Culture and Heritage to draw down land on the Wharf site in Sittingbourne under an option agreement with Essential Land to be used for a new Dolphin Barge Museum.
- (2) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Property Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and the Cabinet Member for Localism, Sport, Culture and Heritage to enter into a new 125 year lease with The Dolphin Barge Museum for Land on the Wharf Site in Sittingbourne to be used to construct, maintain and operate a new Dolphin Barge Museum.

## 554 BEACH HUTS IN LEYSDOWN

# **Cabinet Member for Regeneration**

Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Commissioning & Customer Services and the above Cabinet Member which set out an update on progress with the two phases of beach hut construction in Minster to-date, and proposals for introducing a further 10 huts in Leysdown.

Members spoke in support of the proposal and the benefits it would bring to the surrounding area.

The Head of Commissioning and Customer Contact reported that consultation on the proposed site in Leysdown was ongoing. This had been largely positive, but there had been some concerns with a higher level of anti-social behaviour in Leysdown. He considered that if the project was managed in the same way as the beach huts in Minster, it could result in an increased level of pride within the surrounding area, and was an overall positive move.

#### Resolved:

- (1) That the beach huts scheme with a further twenty huts to be constructed at Leysdown continues. The final mix of huts available for rent or sale to be agreed by the Head of Commissioning & Customer Contact in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Regeneration and the Cabinet Member for Finance.
- (2) That the capital budget allocation of £60,000 for the provision of the beach huts and associated safety barriers be approved.

# 555 OUTSIDE BODY NOMINATIONS MADE BY CABINET

The Leader reported that, following changes in Cabinet portfolios, Councillor Ken Pugh would be appointed to The Swale District Advisory Board, replacing Councillor Mike Whiting.

He further advised that he had been invited to sit on the Executive Body of the Kent Downs and Marshes LEADER.

#### Resolved:

(1) That the verbal update be noted.

## 556 MINUTES OF THE SWALE RURAL FORUM MEETING - 23 FEBRUARY 2016

The Chairman drew Members' attention to the tabled paper which set out the recommendations from the Swale Rural Forum meeting held on 23 February 2016. He advised that Minute No. 521 was not the within SBC's remit. In addition, the proposal within Minute No. 524 had been discussed at the General Purposes Committee held at 5pm on 2 March 2016, and had not been supported by that Committee.

#### Resolved:

(1) That Minute Nos. 521 and 524 be noted with no further action.

# 557 MINUTES OF THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PANEL - 25 FEBRUARY 2016

The Chairman drew Members' attention to the tabled paper which set out the recommendations from the Local Development Framework Panel meeting held on 25 February 2016.

#### Resolved:

(1) That the recommendations in Minute Nos. 534 and 535 be approved, subject to a change on the tabled paper to read 'Parks and Open Spaces improvement grant scheme' on Minute No. 535.

## 558 RECORD OF THANKS

As this was the final scheduled Cabinet meeting of the municipal year, the Chairman thanked Cabinet Members, visiting Members, and officers for their contribution to Cabinet meetings over the last year.

## 559 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

This was not required.

# 560 CONFIDENTIAL APPENDIX FOR ITEM 6 - GRANT OF 25 YEAR LEASE FOR HUT AT MINSTER LEAS

This item was not referred to in the meeting.

# Chairman

Copies of this document are available on the Council website http://www.swale.gov.uk/dso/. If you would like hard copies or alternative versions (i.e. large print, audio, different language) we will do our best to accommodate your request please contact Swale Borough Council at Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT or telephone the Customer Service Centre 01795 417850.

All Minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the Committee/Panel